# Coeur d'Alene CITY COUNCIL MEETING

July 2, 2024

**MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL:** 

Jim Hammond, Mayor Council Members McEvers, English, Evans, Gookin, Miller, Wood

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

# WELCOME To a Regular Meeting of the Coeur d'Alene City Council Held in the Library Community Room at 6:00 P.M. AGENDA

# VISION STATEMENT

Our vision of Coeur d'Alene is of a beautiful, safe city that promotes a high quality of life and sound economy through excellence in government.

The purpose of the Agenda is to assist the Council and interested citizens in the conduct of the public meeting. Careful review of the Agenda is encouraged. Testimony from the public will be solicited for any item or issue listed under the category of <u>Public Hearings</u>. Any individual who wishes to address the Council on any other subject should plan to speak when <u>Item F - Public</u> <u>Comments</u> is identified by the Mayor. The Mayor and Council will not normally allow audience participation at any other time.

July 2, 2024

# A. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL

B. INVOCATION: Grant MacLean, Trinity Lutheran Church

# C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

- **D. AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA**: Any items added less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting are added by Council motion at this time. <u>Action Item</u>.
- **E. PUBLIC COMMENTS:** (Each speaker will be allowed a maximum of 3 minutes to address the City Council on matters that relate to City government business. Please be advised that the City Council can only take official action for those items listed on the agenda.)

# F. ANNOUNCEMENTS

- 1. City Council
- 2. Mayor

# **\*\*\*ITEMS BELOW ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ACTION ITEMS**

- **G. CONSENT CALENDAR**: Being considered routine by the City Council, these items will be enacted by one motion unless requested by a Councilmember that one or more items be removed for later discussion.
  - 1. Approval of Council Minutes for the June 18, 2024 Council Meeting.
  - 2. Setting of General Services/Public Works Committee Meeting for Monday, July 8, 2024, at 12:00 noon.

# 3. **Resolution No. 24-052**

a. Approval of S-1-23 – Center Pointe: Acceptance of Improvements, Approval of Final Plat, Maintenance/Warranty Agreement and Security

# As recommended by the City Engineer

- b. Approval of an amendment to the April 2, 2024 Memorandum of Understanding with Emerge CDA for student art scholarship
- c. Approval of establishing the Coeur d'Alene Poet Laurate Program funded through Arts Commission funds

# As recommended by the City Administrator

# H. OTHER BUSINESS:

1. Presentation regarding a public safety G.O. Bond for capital replacement for the May 2025 Election.

# **Staff Report by: Tom Greif, Fire Chief**

2. **Council Bill No. 24-1010** – Approving the creation of a new Chapter 9 of the Municipal Code, entitled Hate Crimes, providing for definitions and penalties.

# Staff Report by: Randy Adams, City Attorney

# I. ADJOURNMENT

This meeting is aired live on CDA TV Spectrum Cable Channel 1301, TDS Channel 5, and on Facebook live through the City's Facebook page.

# ANNOUNCEMENTS

# CONSENT CALENDAR

# MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COEUR D' ALENE, IDAHO, HELD AT THE LIBRARY COMMUNITY ROOM

### June 18, 2024

The Mayor and Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene met in a regular session of said Council at the Coeur d'Alene City Library Community Room on June 18, 2024, at 5:00 p.m., there being present the following members:

James Hammond, Mayor

Woody McEvers	) Members of Council Present
Christie Wood	)
Dan Gookin	)
Dan English	)
Amy Evans	)
Kiki Miller	)

**CALL TO ORDER**: Mayor Hammond called the meeting to order and noted that the first item in the agenda is a discussion on the budget concerns for fiscal year 2024-2025.

FISCAL YEAR 24-25 BUDGET DISCUSSION: Councilmember Wood opened the budget discussion stating that priority of the budget should focus on public safety, hence the need to support the Police and Fire Department on their equipment requirements. Councilmember Gookin mentioned that given the recent cyberattack, his priority is the increase of compensation for IT employees to a competitive level and the creation of a stand-alone IT Department. He stated that his third priority is the need to reach out to school districts, CDA Tribe, and other agencies to build a relationship of working together. Mayor Hammond shared that there have been three different meetings regarding racial harassment in the community which can be a point of discussion with other agencies and together work on a campaign about "who we are and what we are as a community." Councilmember Evans agreed that it is important to define who we are as a community. She stated that it is important to reach out with other partners such as the Tribe to talk about priorities and projects to work on together. Councilmember Wood mentioned that she was asked to attend a meeting of city leaders from Post Falls, Hayden, Rathdrum, and Coeur d'Alene regarding civility and what we have in common. She suggested that the Councilmembers can take turns in attending this meeting. Councilmember English stated that the creation of a communication position can be tied with filling up the proposed in-house position for media services since Jeff Crowe will not renew his contract. Councilmember McEvers explained that although he agrees with the idea of having a communication position, creating a stand-alone IT Department and increasing the pay, his concern on the budget is more focused on sustainability such as where to get the funding. Councilmember Wood said that she would like to see IT as a stand-alone department with an Administrator. Additionally, her priorities include discussion of employee bargaining contracts and projection on impact to the budget; discussion on the hiring of a part time grant administrator to research and apply for public safety grants or offer incentives to those employees who do this work on their day off; and a discussion on the 10-year plan for

sustainable budget. Mayor Hammond noted that Katie Ebner, the new Finance Director, sent him information from a meeting of the Executive group from the Chamber which illustrated the challenges that the City is facing right now. He explained that the City is collecting 25% revenue of what the City was collecting eight years ago for new growth. He said that it dropped by about 75% while at the same time the assessed value has grown by 125%. Mayor Hammond explained that he asked Councilmembers Gookin and McEvers to review and take a broader look at the budget on the status and where the city will come up short and considering legislative cutbacks. Councilmember Wood suggested that the agenda for the first meeting with other cities and the county in early fall should be the impact of legislation on the cities.

Councilmember Miller stated that she agrees with having a communications position and suggested adding grant research or writing contractor instead of having existing staff doing the work. She pointed out that grant writing with IT will be difficult but grant writing with communications will go hand in hand. She also suggested identifying areas of shortfall in the budget that can be frozen or cut by reviewing events, programs, contracts for leases and projects, potential technology savings, and revenue streams. Lastly, she suggested not adding staff this year except for the communications position. Councilmember Gookin inquired if there are currently funded but unfilled positions, and Mr. Tymesen stated that the Assistant to the Recreation Director is on hold and last year, the unfilled positions were IT and front desk positions. Councilmember Wood reviewed the previous budget objectives and pointed out that despite each department having their strategic plans, there is no overall masterplan that all the strategic plans feed into that the Council can budget in a 10-year plan. Mayor Hammond explained that the 10-year plan is mainly from a revenue point of view although it is difficult to predict legislative actions or city growth, he said that he is concerned with meeting current obligations. In terms of public safety, he mentioned that crime statistics have been going down substantially and there are less fire incidents, which shows that the investment is paying off in making the city a safer community. He said that he is concerned about the city having the financial resources to be able to meet its goals. He added that the Council should look at revenue sources rather than the loss of funds and develop a strategy working with other entities and legislative representatives.

Councilmember Wood asked Mr. Tymesen if there are proposals coming forward to use the fund balance, and Mr. Tymesen explained that the preliminary budget has no exact amount for the medical renewal although there is 3% in the plan, and there's over \$2 Million coming from fund balance in order to fund the operations that will go directly into projects such as the PD building. He added that about half of the General Fund is of concern from cashflow from savings account to fund operations and no increase built in as of the moment to the budget for the negotiations with Fire Department. Councilmember Wood inquired if there are proposals for new positions, with Mr. Tymesen responding that police have positions that are paid from grants but there is a request for an IT position, and there is a request for an administrative assistant position in Parks Department. Councilmember Miller asked if grant funded positions become regular full-time when the grant expires, with Mr. Tymesen explaining that they can be absorbed and there is an exit strategy looking ahead on the probability to have the cashflow to support the position due to possible retirements. He stated that the communications position will be addressed with the nonrenewal of the contract of Jeff Crowe. In terms of public safety as a priority, Mr. Tymesesn expressed that there are funds allocated for this. He shared that he is looking at filling up the City Accountant position which will be vacated on July 1 and the Administrative Assistant position in the Parks Department. Mr. Tymesen stated that it will be good if these concerns are in sync with the Council. He also asked the Council about their priorities. Councilmember McEvers pointed out that the City used to have its own maintenance staff but now there are contractors so it would be good to look at if the City has been saving money. Mayor Hammond asked the Council to think about what the City is for, and what it can do as opposed to what it cannot do. Councilmember Miller stated that maybe next year, there is a need to tighten the belt on what the City can provide. She stated that four of the Council are interested in filling up the Communications position, there is also interest in grants review for better use of either writing or combining efforts toward grants, start of the 5-year plan for IT, and the conduct of meetings with other entities to establish stronger relationships. Councilmember Wood stated that the 5-year plan for IT does not show the cost. She also agreed to check on where the funds will be coming from. Councilmember Miller said that there is a plan in motion already for IT but needs a better presentation on what that plan is. Mayor Hammond clarified that Municipal Services Director Renata McLeod already provided the Council with a memo regarding the costs and obligations.

**RECESS:** Mayor Hammond called for a recess at 5:46 p.m. The meeting resumed at 6:00 p.m.

**INVOCATION:** Leslie Watson of the North Idaho Unitarian Universalists led the Invocation.

**PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:** Councilmember Evans led the pledge of allegiance.

# **PUBLIC COMMENTS:**

Paul Trouette, Hayden, expressed his objections to the proposed amendments to the Ordinance regarding security agent licenses. In Section 4, he stated that having the word "security" on their vehicles so that they are distinguished is sufficient. He asked to have another discussion on Section 5 and stated that security agents should be able to act due to extenuating circumstances or exigent circumstances. Mr. Trouette mentioned that Section 6 is a bit of an overreach requiring added administrative work and would entail expenses from them.

John Swallow, Coeur d'Alene, asked the Council to strongly consider Resolution 24-049 or the temporary moratorium on demolition. He stated that while he is a big supporter of private property rights, he is deeply concerned about the loss of history and identity of Coeur d'Alene so having a 180-day moratorium is fine.

James Cooke, Coeur d'Alene, thanked the Council for the ordinance on loud engines and said that they have already noticed the difference. He stated his strong opposition to the proposed pedal pub saying that having a non-supervised tavern on wheels riding through the neighborhood would not fit with the City's vision statement.

Scott Wagonseller, Hayden, noted that the proposed amendments to the ordinance regarding security agent licenses restricts residents and businesses the right to protect themselves and their property without prior notice, review, and approval of the City police. He said that this is authoritarian overreach and there was no community input and stakeholder involvement because this was only presented by the Chief of Police with only four days of notice. He added that this ordinance is only aimed at increasing the regulatory powers of the Chief of Police and does not solve any problem nor improve public safety.

Griffen Dietrich, Coeur d'Alene, urged the Council not to pass the proposed amendments to the Ordinance regarding security agent licenses because it does not benefit the public or the security industry. He explained that the only purpose is to diminish the ability of security agencies to effectively operate at their clients' requests. He pointed out that Section 4 which mandates the appearance of security uniforms and vehicles is not only a violation of freedom of expression but also prohibits the right of clients to choose how their security provider appears. Further, he stated that Section 5 violates Idaho Statute on citizens arrest rights. In relation to Section 6, he explained that the police have no right or need to be informed about private contracts made between private entities.

Shannon Sardell, Coeur d'Alene, asked the Council to support the temporary moratorium on demolition and moving permits because this is a community generated request and historic preservation matters to the people in Coeur d'Alene. She requested the Council seek additional public comment and further review of the proposed amendments to the ordinance on billboards and electronic message displays. She explained that from a historic preservation perspective, the amendments will have great effect on historic context and character of historic places as well the natural billboards such as the lakes, trees, and prairie.

Jeff Connaway, Coeur d'Alene, requested the Council to reject or at least table the proposed amendments to the ordinance on billboards and electronic message displays to allow more time for exploring what the people in general would want to see happen in the city. He asked the Council to investigate the possibility of requiring sunset leases for existing billboards in a reasonable amount of time.

Neal Schreibeis, Coeur d'Alene, noted that while they fully understand and agree that there should be regulations in place for billboards, he pointed out that the proposed amendments has overcomplicated the permitting process such as why the City Council would need to review each application for relocation. He stated that the proposed ordinance to have all the 14x48 signs located within a block of I-90 would keep them clumped together and not spread out. He added that the review of leases for the relocations is cumbersome to the billboard companies and extra work for the City Attorney. He also pointed out that the 500-foot setback requirement from residential, school, park, church, historic district, and cemetery is an additional area restriction which is in addition to the zoning restrictions.

Johnny Liston, Hayden, requested Council to reconsider Section 2C pertaining to relocation of billboards and other off-premises signs particularly sections F to I. He asked that those sections be stricken from the record.

Walter Burns, Coeur d'Alene, spoke in support of the resolution on demolition moratorium which will provide the time needed for the Historic Preservation Commission to complete their initiatives. He stated that they are working to revise the City's demolition permit process to be more responsive to the needs of the community. Mr. Burns stated that they are working with the Planning Department, other City Commissions, and with the Council, to review and update the downtown core and downtown North and East overlays.

Deb Mitchell, Coeur d'Alene, asked the Council to pass Resolution 24-049 regarding the temporary moratorium on demolition. She quoted 1 Corinthians 6:12 verse from the Bible which says that "all things are lawful, but not everything is beneficial." She also shared what Dr. William Murtagh said that "preservation engages the past in a conversation with the present over a mutual concern for the future."

**ANNOUNCEMENTS:** Councilmember Evans announced that today is Mayor Hammond's birthday and wished him well. Councilmember Wood encouraged the people to visit the Atlas Water Park and support the vendors that are there such the ice cream truck, burger shack, and a coffee truck.

# **CONSENT CALENDAR**:

- 1. Approval of Council Minutes for the June 4, 2024 Council Meeting.
- 2. Approval of Minutes from the June 10, 2024 General Services/Public Works Committee Meeting.
- 3. Approval of Bills as Submitted
- 4. Approval of Financial Report

**MOTION:** Motion by McEvers, seconded by Evans to approve the Consent Calendar as presented.

**ROLL CALL:** Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye. **Motion carried.** 

# RESOLUTION NO. 24-047

# A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, AUTHORIZING A LETTER OF AGREEMENT WITH GARNET ADVENTURES, LLC, FOR THE COMMERCIAL USE OF THE CITY STREETS FOR RECREATIONAL TRANSIT.

**STAFF REPORT:** Deputy City Clerk Kelley Setters noted that the City received a request from Mr. Gary Cooper d/b/a Garnet Adventures LLC to operate a non-motorized vehicle within City limits through a Letter of Agreement. She stated that the tours will have a maximum seating capacity of 14 operating from Thursday to Sunday starting on June 19, 2024 through October 31, 2024 from 11:00 am to 10:00 pm lasting approximately 2.5 hours. She added that all tours will begin and end at the Tour CDA business located at 1618 E Lakeside Avenue (near Sherman and 17th Street) starting at 11:00 a.m. where the stops for the scenic tour for all ages include the Roosevelt Inn, Fort Sherman, and Carousel with no alcohol to be served on this trip. Ms. Setters explained that two other daily tours for 3:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m. will be for guests who are 21 years and older and are allowed to bring their own sealed beer or wine for consumption while onboard the bike. She mentioned that the stops include: The Goat on 4<sup>th</sup> Street, 315 Cuisine on Wallace Avenue, and Seasons Restaurant on 3<sup>rd</sup> Street. Ms. Setters pointed out that each City Department was contacted to see if there were any concerns or requests for conditions, with the Police

Department noting they had no issues. She recalled that in the past, other recreational transportation uses, such as Socially Geared Cycle Pub and horse-drawn carriages were in operation and had been widely accepted and have not impeded traffic.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Evans recalled that there was a similar business in the past, but the route was different, with Ms. Setters explaining that the former route was longer going down into Lakeshore Drive. Councilmember Miller asked if there are any regulations about the music and sound to address noise complaints from the neighborhood. Councilmember English stated that it reminds him of the ice cream trucks that plays three to four stanzas of music over and over; however, he pointed out that there would be an employee and it would not be unsupervised. City Attorney Randy Adams said that the City has an ordinance that regulates music being played on a vehicle which includes annoying to a person of reasonable sensitivities. Councilmember Gookin stated that he got a consensus from his neighbors in Fort Grounds, and they suggested that it would be better if the route will go down Hubbard and then turn on Lakeshore Drive to Park Drive and not cut through the neighborhood. He said that he would like to see that change in the route. Councilmember Wood requested for clarification why the pedal pub is coming forward to the Council when there is already an ordinance, with Ms. Setters replying that the ordinance stipulates that the pedal pub application must come before the Council for decision. Councilmember Wood shared that she just came back from New Orleans where they took horse drawn carriage rides, and she would like to encourage the people to have the same fun since Coeur d'Alene is a touristy town; however, she stressed that there should be a balance in having fun and not ruining the neighbors' day. Councilmember McEvers asked about the evening tour where the guests will be bringing their own beer and there's a tendency that they will be drinking in the establishments and become tipsy, with Mr. Cooper explaining that the guests can initially bring their own beverage as long the beverage is beer, wine, or seltzer, but they cannot leave the pedal pub with any alcoholic beverage nor they can bring any from an establishment. He added that the guests will be signing a waiver that tells them they cannot be intoxicated. Also, Mr. Cooper explained that it would be a liability issue if they are highly intoxicated, and they are expected to be able to pedal because the pedal pub is a human powered vehicle. In terms of music, Mr. Cooper said that they envision their guests to have a playlist of their own such as for bridal showers. Councilmember Gookin inquired on the impact as far as downtown noise, and Mr. Cooper stated that the pedal pub is not stationary but will be passing along and they would certainly comply with the music ordinance and would not want to annoy the neighborhood. He further stated that the focus of their business is to the history of the community that is why they want to go over at Fort Sherman to visit the historical buildings. Councilmember Gookin asked Mr. Cooper if he would be amenable to not cut through the neighborhood, and Mr. Cooper stated that he is agreeable to a route change.

**MOTION**: Motion by Gookin, seconded by Wood, to approve **Resolution No. 24-047** – Approval of a letter of agreement with Garnet Adventures LLC for Commercial Use of the City Streets for Recreational Transit as amended by Council.

**ROLL CALL:** English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye. **Motion carried.** 

# RESOLUTION NO. 24-048

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF A RAMVAC HX12 TRUCK MOUNTED HYDRO-EXCAVATOR FROM SOLID WASTE SYSTEMS EQUIPMENT, LLC, THROUGH THE SOURCEWELL COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM, IN THE AMOUNT OF \$616,963.33.

**STAFF REPORT:** Assistant Director Glen Poelstra noted that each year, the Water Department is presented with the task of maintaining the City's aging infrastructure and, each year, it becomes more difficult to excavate with the number of utilities being installed in the ground. He recalled that in 2016, the Water Department acquired the Wastewater Department's Vaccon sewer jet truck and made modifications to turn it into a hydro-excavation truck for the Water Department. He stated that this truck was a great addition to the fleet as it uses high pressure water and an 8" vacuum suction tube to soft excavate around complicated utility excavations where a backhoe or excavator could not be used. Mr. Poelstra explained that hydro excavation is basically using high pressure water and a large vacuum system to be able to soft dig around utilities and remove material from the ground. He enumerated the benefits of soft digging which allows their crew to limit their time in the ditch, safe exposure of pipes and cables without the risk of damage, minimal environmental impact and less disruptive to surrounding ecosystems, precision excavating around utilities, helps to prevent service interruption, and it is in compliance with state law. He said that the truck being 17 years old and not built for hydro-excavating, it is showing its age, and the maintenance costs are growing substantially each year. Mr. Poelstra mentioned that they solicited Sourcewell quote for a Ramvac HX12 Kenworth Hydro-excavation truck from Solid Waste Systems in the amount of \$616,963.33. He added that the Sourcewell quotes are based on a competitive solicitation process and offered to members. He stated that Sourcewell has previously been approved by Council for such purchases, as required by Idaho Code § 67-2807, and the hydroexcavation truck was included in the 2023-24 FY budget with a capital line item of \$700,000. Mr. Poelstra pointed out that the hydro-excavation truck takes approximately 1 year from time of order to delivery, which would require this budget line item to be carried over into the FY budget 2024-25.

**DISCUSSION:** Mayor Hammond asked if they inject water to soften the soil and if they bring something else for backfill, with Mr. Poelstra explaining that it is like a long digging wand with a nozzle that rotates with high pressure 2000 PSI water that they stick to the ground to loosen it up. He added that they have a location to dump the material. Councilmember Wood inquired on the lifespan of the truck, and Mr. Poelstra stated that they expect the truck to last between 15-20 years. Councilmember McEvers asked how many repairs they do per year, with Mr. Poelstra replying that they schedule 100 replacement services. He said that they typically encounter anywhere from 20 to 25 leaks in those pipes and then anywhere from 150 to 200 other services that they work on throughout the year. He added that the Ramvac HX12 Kenworth Hydro-excavation truck has a heating unit that would allow them to use it through winter if needed.

**MOTION**: Motion by McEvers, seconded by English, to approve **Resolution No. 24-048** – Approval of a contract with SWS Equipment, LLC, for a Ramvac HX12 Truck Mounted Hydro Excavator in the amount \$616,963.33.

**ROLL CALL:** Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye. **Motion carried.** 

## **RESOLUTION NO. 24-049**

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, ADOPTING A TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON DEMOLITION AND MOVING PERMITS, AND BUILDING PERMITS FOR SIGNIFICANT EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS, FOR BUILDINGS, EXCLUDING RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS, LOCATED IN THE DOWNTOWN CORE ZONING DISTRICT, AND THE DOWNTOWN OVERLAY, NORTHSIDE, AND DOWNTOWN OVERLAY, EASTSIDE, DISTRICTS, AND BUILDINGS LISTED ON THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES.

**STAFF REPORT:** Community Planning Director Hilary Patterson presented the draft Resolution regarding imposing a temporary moratorium on the issuance of demolition and moving permits, and building permits for significant exterior alterations, for buildings, excluding residential, located in the Downtown Core Zoning District, Downtown Overlay Northside, and Downtown Overlay Eastside, and buildings listed on the National Register of Historic Places, to wit: Coeur d'Alene City Hall; Coeur d'Alene Federal Building; Coeur d'Alene Masonic Temple; Davey, Harvey M. House; First United Methodist Church; Fort Sherman Buildings; Inland Empire Electric Railway Substation; Kootenai County Courthouse; Roosevelt School; St. Thomas Catholic Church; and Hamilton House. She stated that the intention is to protect historic resources and allow time to conduct planning activities allowed by the Idaho Code. If approved, she said that the moratorium would be for 182 days from its effective date. In addition to residential structures, Ms. Patterson enumerated the exclusions which include outbuildings (garages), dangerous buildings, buildings that are less than 50 years of age, residential structures, interior demolitions, and historic districts such as Fort Grounds and Garden District. She mentioned that Idaho Code §§67-6523 and 67-6524 authorize the City to impose a moratorium on the issuance of selected classes of permits when Council finds that an imminent peril to the public health, safety, or welfare exists which requires the imposition of such a moratorium. She added that Idaho Code §67-4601 also recognizes the importance of historic, archaeological and cultural heritage of the state, and provides for a comprehensive program of historic preservation. Ms. Patterson provided the justification for the proposed resolution as what was explained by Walter Burns, Chairman of Historic Preservation Commission, and John Swallow who owns historic properties, that there is a need to put a pause on the demolitions for the Commission and staff to be able to catch up and evaluate what has been going on and respond to Council's request to work on some of these important things at the downtown core in terms of zoning code and what is allowed by right and design guidelines. She mentioned that the City has been awarded with a grant fund through the State Preservation Office to conduct a reconnaissance survey of the downtown area to identify and evaluate historic resources. She stated that demolition permits have no review, historic properties are at risk and there is public outcry to save them, other communities in Idaho have done a similar moratorium, and the effect on public mental health is also a point of consideration. Ms. Patterson said that there is a working group and Councilmember Gookin is a member, and they are evaluating the zoning districts on what is allowed by right in the downtown core as well as in the two infill districts. She requested the Council to adopt the imposition of a temporary moratorium for 182 days pursuant to Idaho Code.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember McEvers asked what triggered this recommendation, with Ms. Patterson stating that the case of the Roosevelt triggered this response from the community members to request for a moratorium. She pointed out that the moratorium is only for 182 days. Councilmember McEvers expressed that while he appreciates the historical importance, he is having a hard time knowing that property owners would have to wait about six months. Councilmember Gookin inquired why residential buildings are excluded from the moratorium, and Ms. Patterson explained that the thought was just the number of residential buildings and the thought that City Council and some of the residents might be more concerned if it was limiting residential because there is a lot more happening with residential permits than commercial permits. She added that the nature of the zoning code with development standards and design guidelines, the majority of those are commercial. She mentioned that residential can be added. Councilmember Gookin asked if someone's home burned down, can they rebuild on it given the moratorium, with Ms. Patterson replying in the affirmative. Councilmember Gookin asked details on the number of days, and Mr. Adams replied that it would be 182 sequential days. Councilmember Miller explained that the 182 days moratorium is an avenue to come up with a plan on demolition permits and provide time to build awareness to residents that have a potential historic home and provide ideas in front of them to help preserve that.

**MOTION**: Motion by Miller, seconded by Evans, to approve **Resolution No. 24-049** – Approval of a Temporary Moratorium on demolition and moving permits and building permits for significant exterior alterations, for buildings, excluding residential, located in the Downtown Core Zoning District, and Downtown Overlay, Northside, and Downtown Overlay, Eastside District, and buildings listed on National Historic Register.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Gookin asked the Council if they would be interested to add residential buildings to the list. Councilmember Miller stated that she does not have a problem including residential; however, she noted that the Commission is concerned about the timeframe and no available information on who will be affected. Mayor Hammond pointed out that there are also 50-year-old homes but not necessarily of historical significance and if somebody would want to come in and build a new home, they would be stuck for 182 days and be affected on what will come out of the redeveloped ordinance. Councilmember Miller shared that there was a discussion in the Commission about identifying older historic homes to be added to the list, but they figured that it will be too time consuming and arbitrary to get through.

**ROLL CALL:** Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers No; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye. **Motion carried**.

# RESOLUTION NO. 24-050

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, DECLARING, PURUSANT TO IDAHO CODE § 67-2808(1), THAT AN EMERGENCY EXISTS AS A RESULT OF AN EXTRAORDINARY FIRE WHICH DEMANDS THE IMMEDIATE EXPENDITURE OF PUBLIC MONEY IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST AND NECESSITY WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH FORMAL BIDDING PROCEDURES.

**STAFF REPORT:** Police Chief Lee White noted that an extraordinary fire occurred at the Police Department on Sunday, June 9, 2024 and razed the IT building that served as a workspace for Code Enforcement, Animal Control, Volunteers, and Police Department (PD) Information Technology personnel. He added that vehicles and equipment for the (traffic) motor program, K9 program, SWAT, bike and downtown patrol, crowd control, and other specialty units were damaged or destroyed in the fire. He mentioned that nearly all their IT-related equipment such as laptops, desktops, cables, and other hardware, was also lost in the fire. Chief White stated that the State Fire Marshall is taking the lead in the investigation and that the fire appears to be accidental caused by catastrophic failure of lithium-ion battery on one of their e-bikes. Chief White explained that he is not requesting for additional funding but he is asking Council for the declaration of an emergency in order to circumvent the lengthy purchasing process so they can replace the critical equipment that were lost from the fire.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Wood requested clarification if PD is applying for federal funds, with Chief White replying that they are not. He stated that the funding discussions would probably take place at a later date once they determine the amount that the insurance company, ICRMP, would cover. Councilmember Miller inquired about having a priority strategic plan on what equipment they intend to replace first and how it will be when ICRMP is unable to cover the entire cost of full replacement. Chief White explained that they are currently on the process of identifying details of what was lost in the fire and the scope is huge which basically everything associated with their canine unit, all of their specialty units including SWAT equipment, bicycle team, motorcycle team, and their entire IT department. Councilmember Gookin asked why the building has no sprinklers, and Chief White pointed out that when the building was bought in 2016, it was not a requirement in code since it was predominantly a storage building with only a small area for office space. He added that they also don't have the extra funding of \$15,000 at that time for the sprinklers. Councilmember Wood inquired about how they are doing their inventory to figure our what was lost. Chief White stated that Lt. Bill Tilson has been doing a phenomenal job in leading the inventory process from grabbing invoices from Springbook and looking through information from databases. Councilmember Wood applaud the cooperative spirit among the departments in helping the PD to get equipment and be able to function again.

**MOTION**: Motion by Wood, seconded by Gookin, to approve **Resolution No. 24-050** – Approval of a Declaration of Emergency, pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-2808(1), as a result of an extraordinary events which demands the immediate expenditure of public money in the public interest and necessity without compliance with formal bidding procedures.

**ROLL CALL:** Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye. **Motion carried.** 

# COUNCIL BILL NO. 24-1008

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE COEUR D'ALENE MUNICIPAL CODE: 5.32.010, 5.32.020, 5.32.050, 5.32.060, 5.32.80, AND 5.32.090 PERTAINING TO SECURITY AGENCIES AND AGENTS; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THE ORDINANCE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE THEREOF.

STAFF REPORT: Police Chief Lee White requested the Council to approve amendment to Chapter 5.32 of the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code entitled "Security Agencies and Agents" to help the public more easily identify security company employees and help distinguish them from law enforcement personnel. He explained that the Municipal Services Department issues licenses for Security Agents under Municipal Code Chapter 5.32 which provides for the Police Chief to regulate uniforms, badges, and vehicles. He stated that currently, the city has 14 firms and 37 individuals licensed and they must go through a fingerprint-based background check up licensure. He mentioned that the Police Department has received several complaints regarding employees of security agencies dressing in uniforms similar to local law enforcement agencies, being investigated and/or charged with crimes, and in some cases, behaving in a manner that may be viewed as impersonating a peace officer. Chief White recalled that the section of Municipal Code addressing security agencies was last revised in 2009 and needs updating. He pointed out that the recommended changes would provide specific requirements for uniforms and vehicles to disallow them from looking similar to local law enforcement uniforms and vehicles, and both must be clearly marked with the word "Security" to ensure the distinction. Chief White explained that the specific changes in the code, include an annual background check, specific language for uniforms and vehicles, training and uniforms/vehicles shall be checked every three years by the Chief of Police. He said that he had spoken with the leadership from Kootenai County Sheriff's Office and they support the proposed amendments. Chief White addressed the concerns mentioned during the Public Comment period stating the following: there is nothing in the ordinance that would prohibit the security agents from acting as any private citizen will do citizen's arrest; the 2009 ordinance requires that all the vehicles have the word "security agent" written on their vehicles but the proposed amendment only requires the word "security" that needs to be written in legible bold letters that is 4 inches tall; and the comment period for the proposed amendments started back in March when the information was shared to concerned companies for inputs.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Evans requested clarification on what was mentioned during Public Comment about making available copies of the contract and some minimal changes on information on Section 6, with Chief White explaining that the reason is if someone is purporting themselves as a security officer, PD would have the ability to look at the database of Municipal Services and ensure that they are duly licensed in the City. He added that the only change in Section 6 is removing place of residence, removing complete and accurate description and history of record, and then adding date of birth. Councilmember Wood mentioned that she doesn't have any concerns with the changes in the ordinance. She stated that while the private security companies have a role and do a lot of good for the private industry, the premiere law enforcement in the City is the Coeur d'Alene Police Department. Councilmember Gookin asked if there was an opportunity for the PD to meet with the security agencies. Chief White shared that he met with

representatives of Lear and Gates early spring. He said that he also met with Northern States, and they fully support whatever changes that would be implemented. Councilmember McEvers asked if this ordinance will also apply in Post Falls and Rathdrum, with Chief White clarifying that this is just a City Ordinance, but he also spoke with the Sheriff's Department, and they also don't like the idea that they might be confused with security agents. Councilmember Miller inquired on the number of security agencies, and Chief White pointed out that there is only 14 in the City database that are licensed to perform security type activities. He mentioned that Allied Universal has not yet started doing uniform security activity in the area, but he spoke with them and they have no problems with the ordinance. Councilmember Miller requested for further explanation about the assertion that Section 5 of the ordinance violates the Idaho statute regarding citizen's arrest, with Mr. Adams explaining that Section 5 doesn't even use the word "arrest," and it is intended to require notification of police when a security agent is aware if a crime, hence it has nothing to do with whether they can perform a citizen's arrest or not.

**MOTION**: Motion by Miller, seconded by McEvers, to dispense with the rule and read **Council Bill No. 24-1008** once by title only.

**ROLL CALL:** McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye. **Motion carried.** 

MOTION: Motion by Miller, seconded by English, to adopt Council Bill No. 24-1008.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Gookin stated that he is opposed to the proposed amendments saying that it is a lot of governmental overreach and the existing rules are fine. He recalled what was mentioned in the Public Comment that an agency may need to redo its fleet which will cause excessive expense. He stated that he would like to see the City to be more business friendly. Councilmember Wood stated that she is in support of the proposed amendments because it has been carefully crafted to make sure that the agencies will still be successful in their business. She pointed out that it is not safe, and it is concerning to have other agencies that are not certified professional law enforcement to look like law enforcement. She clarified that the proposed amendments were not crafted in particular by Chief White, but the City relies on him for input and real time observation about what is happening and how it impacts the public.

**ROLL CALL:** McEvers Aye; Gookin No; English Aye; Wood Aye Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye. **Motion carried.** 

# RESOLUTION NO. 24-051

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, APPROVING THE SOLE SOURCE PROCUREMENT OF A SPEED ALPR (AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE READER) TRAILER FROM VIGILANT SOLUTIONS, LLC, USING GRANT FUNDING THROUGH THE 2023 STATE HOMELAND SECURITY PROGRAM (SHSP) FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMENT. **STAFF REPORT:** Police Chief Lee White requested the Council to approve the sole source procurement of a speed ALPR (Automatic License Plate Reader) trailer from Motorola Vigilant using a grant through the 2023 State Homeland Security Program (SHSP) which was awarded to the Coeur d'Alene Police Department, sub-awarded by Kootenai County and administered by the Office of Emergency Management (OEM). He explained that the way the grant works is the OEM actually purchases the equipment but since the PD is the entity that will control and acquire the equipment, it needs to comply with the purchasing policy. He stated that they are requesting to use a specific company because it is compatible with their existing system, hence they are requesting a sole source for this purchase. He added that this might be their only mobile ALPR trailer which would be a regional asset. He stressed that there are no City funds that will be used in this purchase.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Gookin asked if this is a speed camera and would be giving out tickets, with Chief White explaining that this equipment is a speed feedback and reads license plate number so they can identify whether it's a stolen vehicle, missing people, or murder suspects travelling through, but it does not give out tickets. Councilmember McEvers inquired on the cameras in the trailer, and Chief White stated that it is a trailer with a speed feedback and a camera that can move around. He added that the speed feedback will help the people to slow down but at the same time, the PD will be alerted if the stolen vehicle happens to go by or there is a murder suspect that is passing through. Councilmember Wood commented that when she was working at the PD, this is the most requested equipment because of speeding concerns in the neighborhood and this slow people down when they can see immediate feedback on their speed.

**MOTION**: Motion by Wood, seconded by English, to approve **Resolution No. 24-051** – Approval of the sole source purchase of ALPR trailer, using grant funds from a State Homeland Security Program grant, sub-awarded by Kootenai County and administered by the Office of Emergency Management (OEM), in the amount of \$68,715.00.

**ROLL CALL:** Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye. **Motion carried.** 

# COUNCIL BILL NO. 24-1009

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF SECTIONS 15.50.210, 15.50.400(C), 15.50.410(H), PERTAINING TO BILLBOARDS, AND 15.50.400(D) PERTAINING TO ELECTRONIC MESSAGE DISPLAYS OF THE COEUR D'ALENE MUNICIPAL CODE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THE ORDINANCE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE THEREOF.

**STAFF REPORT:** Community Planning Director Hilary Patterson noted that during the December 19, 2023 Council meeting, the Council requested staff to revisit the amendments to the sign code and provide ways to allow movement of existing billboards within the city limits. She explained that as the Code is currently written, no new billboards are allowed, and existing billboards cannot be moved to a different location but must "remain in place." She pointed out

that constitutionality was a big issue when the last amendment was made on the sign code, and it was change so the city is not regulating content. Ms. Patterson explained the following considerations in looking at amendments to the sign code: they cannot obstruct views, distract motorists, displace alternative uses for land, and affect the aesthetics of a community. She stated that the City finds and declares that it is necessary to regulate the construction, erection, maintenance, electrification, illumination, type, size, number, and locations of signs in order to protect the health, safety, welfare, the orderly appearance of the city, provide for information needs of the public, among others. She explained that in the March 1, 2022 Code Amendments, one of those that was changed was to remove the statement "the billboard may not be enlarged, structurally altered, or moved to a different location. Billboards must be maintained as required by this Chapter" which caused some confusion that is why Lamar brought forward the request to the City Council to change this as they were under the impression that billboards could be moved within the City although there was a section in the Code that still says they must remain in place. Other provisions that were removed include the statements: "A Billboard located on property annexed into the City must be removed within 60 days of the effective date of the annexation;" and "If a Billboard is damaged by any cause such that the cost of repair exceeds 50% of the fair market value of the Billboard prior to the damage, the Billboard may not be repaired but must be removed."

Ms. Setters explained that the total sign allowance is calculated by multiplying the street frontage of a parcel by three. She stated that the freestanding allowance is calculated by multiplying the street frontage measurement by the driving lane factors, then by the density factor, then adding in the sign area factor. She added that in the C-17 zone, the maximum is 100sq.ft.

Ms. Patterson shared that the proposed code amendments were presented to the General Services/ Public Works Committee, and they also met with the two outdoor sign companies, Lamar and Yesco, as well as sent out the proposed code amendments to other sign companies. She stated that staff reviewed codes from several cities including Post Falls, Hayden, Meridian, Idaho Falls, Pocatello, Spokane, Spokane Valley, Twin Falls, Bend OR, Missoula MT, Boise, Nampa, Caldwell, and Eagle, as well as the Montana Department of Transportation, and Idaho Transportation Department and found out that most cities did not allow for new billboards, and a few provided for their movement within certain parameters. As such, Ms. Patterson enumerated highlights of the proposed code, to wit: provides for a definition of Billboard; provides for the removal of existing non-conforming billboards in exchange for a new location; to be relocated within a Commercial, Manufacturing, or Light Manufacturing zone; blends with existing codes (Planning and Zoning setbacks, heights, separation between signs, underground electrical); requires a public hearing before the City Council; and provides for emergency alerts/owner contact information. She mentioned that the proposed ordinance would have additional setbacks of 500 ft. from residential zones, schools, churches, parks, cemeteries, and historic districts. She added that there are currently eight billboards within the City. Ms. Patterson further explained that the code for electronic signs should be amended due to the complaints about night brightness; research from other cities netted better ways to measure light, moving from nits to foot candles; required technology for auto diming; hold displays for 8 seconds versus 2 seconds; and restricts video messages on electronic message displays. She said that currently there are 83 electronic signs in the city. Ms. Patterson stated that the proposed amendments include clarification that distraction includes motorists, pedestrians, and general public; require technology for auto dimming;

brightness shall not exceed 0.3-foot candles (above ambient conditions), with appropriate measurement distances; messages to be held a minimum of 8 seconds; clarification that no videos are allowed; and consistent with best practices. She stated the suggestions discussed during the May 28, 2024 GS/PW Subcommittee meeting: reconsider the need to review the Land Lease; clarify proposed foot candle measurement is above ambient lighting; clarify rotating signs are signs that turn/spin; clarify sign content that cannot be regulated, for example, legal cannabis sales in WA; determine if public hearing should be required; determine if underground electrical should be required; include transitions should be ½ second or less; include lighting to be downward facing on non-digital billboards; and mobile billboards.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Wood stated that her husband works for a sign company, but he is not in a position to determine where a billboard will be located, hence she does not have a conflict of interest. She suggested that the billboard code amendments can be written in the same way as the pedal pub where there would be public comment instead of a public hearing. Councilmember Evans asked Ms. Patterson to review their work with the sign companies because the Council received an email from Lamar few days prior to the Council meeting with significant suggested changes. Ms. Patterson stated that staff previously met with the sign companies and heard their concerns. She added that they were also present in the subcommittee meetings to provide comments. Councilmember English said that he wanted to keep the public hearing. Councilmember Wood asked the details of the email from Lamar, with Mr. Adams explaining that the concern is about the height of the billboard which is 50ft. from the bottom of the sign. Ms. Patterson shared that in the draft proposal, the maximum height would be 48ft. She added that aside from the height, the significant changes that Lamar suggested include removal of zoning restrictions, no public hearing, they did not want to limit the size, and intersections setback. Councilmember Wood stated that the sign companies serve local businesses, and the Council has the role to support economic development. She urges Council to find a common ground to work with the sign companies that would still work for the City; however, she pointed out that if the proposals are not acceptable, she asked Council to move forward. Councilmember Miller mentioned that she agrees with supporting the local business. She also explained that the sign companies were involved during the preparation of the code amendments; however, they would suggest dramatic changes that should have been brought up earlier. She added that she is in support of the public hearing. Councilmember Wood pointed out that there are more requirements from the business when they are required to go through public hearing. Ms. Patterson stated that the business will do the application, they pay for the title report and mailing labels, then the City will send out notifications for a public hearing. Councilmember English stated that he has enough information to make a decision. Councilmember Evans stated that she is in support of the proposed amendments; however, she is not in support of the movement of billboards because this will make a big impact on how the city looks moving forward. She said that she likes the public hearing as it provides for transparency in the process. Councilmember Gookin pointed out that there are a lot in the proposed code amendment that requires businesses to do what they already do, hence can be stricken out. He said that he is does not agree with the public hearing.

**MOTION**: Motion by Gookin, seconded by Wood, to dispense with the rule and read **Council Bill No. 24-1009** once by title only.

**ROLL CALL:** English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye. **Motion carried.** 

MOTION: Motion by Gookin, seconded by Wood, to adopt Council Bill No. 24-1009.

**DISCUSSION:** Councilmember Gookin stated that the Council supports the local business and with this ordinance they are allowed to move the billboards. He asked the sign companies to work with the City to fine tune the code.

**ROLL CALL:** English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans No; Miller Aye; McEvers No; Gookin Aye. **Motion carried.** 

**RECESS:** Motion by Gookin, seconded by Wood to recess to June 24, 2024, at 12:00 Noon in the Library Community Room, located at 702 E. Front Avenue for a workshop regarding Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget. **Motion carried.** 

The meeting adjourned at 8:32 p.m.

James Hammond, Mayor

ATTEST:

Jo Anne Mateski Executive Assistant

# RESOLUTION NO. 24-052

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO APPROVING THE FOLLOWING: AGREEMENT FOR MAINTENANCE / WARRANTY OF SUBDIVISION WORK, AND APPROVAL OF FINAL PLAT AND SECURITY FOR CENTER POINTE [S1-23]; AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH EMERGE CDA INC., FOR STUDENT ART SCHOLARSHIPS; AND REQUEST FOR A POET LAUREATE FUNDED BY THE ARTS COMMISSION FOR THE MAYOR'S ARTS AWARDS.

WHEREAS, it has been recommended that the City of Coeur d'Alene enter into the agreements and other action listed below, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the agreements and other action documents attached hereto as Exhibits "A" through "C" and by reference made a part hereof as summarized as follows:

- A) Agreement for Maintenance/Warranty of Subdivision Work, and Approval of Final Plat and Security for Center Pointe [S1-23];
- B) Amendment No. 1 to the Memorandum of Understanding with Emerge CDA Inc., for student art scholarships;
- C) Request for a poet laureate funded by the Arts Commission for the Mayor's Arts Awards; [No attachment]

AND

WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d'Alene and the citizens thereof to enter into such agreements or other actions;

## NOW, THEREFORE,

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene that the City enter into agreements and take the other action for the subject matter, as set forth in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibits "A" through "C" and incorporated herein by reference, with the provision that the Mayor, City Administrator, and City Attorney are hereby authorized to modify said agreements and the other action, so long as the substantive provisions of the agreements and the other action remain intact.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized to execute such agreements or other documents as may be required on behalf of the City. DATED this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2024.

James Hammond, Mayor

ATTEST

Renata McLeod, City Clerk

Motion by , Seconded b

, Seconded by , to adopt the foregoing resolution.

# ROLL CALL:

COUNCIL MEMBER EVANS	Voted
COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER	Voted
COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN	Voted
COUNCIL MEMBER ENGLISH	Voted
COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS	Voted
COUNCIL MEMBER WOOD	Voted

.

was absent. Motion

# CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT

 DATE:
 July 2, 2024

 FROM:
 Dennis J. Grant, Engineering Project Manager

 SUBJECT:
 Center Pointe: Final Plat Approval, Acceptance of Improvements, Maintenance/Warranty

 Agreement and Security Approval

### **DECISION POINT**

Staff is requesting the following:

- 1. Approval of the final plat document, a five (5) lot residential development.
- 2. Acceptance of the installed public infrastructure improvements.
- 3. Approval of the Maintenance/Warranty Agreement and Security.

### HISTORY

a.	Applicant:	Charles A. and Carrie D. Stringham 3566 S. North Cape Road Coeur d'Alene, ID 83814
b.	Location:	East of 4 <sup>th</sup> Street, between Knotty Pine & Whispering Pines Lane.
с.	Previous Action	r.

1. Preliminary plat approval, January 2023.

## FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

The developer is installing the required warranty bond (10%) to cover any maintenance issues that may arise during the one (1) year warranty period that will commence upon this approval, and terminate, on July 2, 2025. The amount of the security provided is \$2,492.00.

## PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

The developer has installed all required public infrastructure. The responsible City departments have approved the installations and found them ready to accept. Acceptance of the installed improvements will allow the issuance of all available building permits for this phase of the development, and, Certificate of Occupancy issuance upon completion. The City maintenance would be required to start after the one (1) year warranty period expires on July 2, 2024.

### **DECISION POINT RECOMMENDATION**

- 1. Approve the final plat document.
- 2. Accept the installed public infrastructure improvements.
- 3. Approve the Maintenance/Warranty Agreement and accompanying Security.

# BOOK , PAGE INST. No. CITY COUNCIL CERTIFICATE THIS PLAT HAS BEEN ACCEPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE THIS , DAY OF , 20 **RENATA MCLEOD - CLERK** PE#10804 PANHANDLE HEALTH DISTRICT 1 CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL SANITARY RESTRICTIONS AS REQUIRED BY IDAHO CODE, TITLE 50, CHAPTER 13 HAVE BEEN SATISFIED BASED ON A REVIEW BY A QUALIFIED LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER (QLPE) REPRESENTING THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE AND THE QLPE APPROVAL OF THE DESIGN PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS AND THE CONDITIONS IMPOSED ON THE DEVELOPER FOR CONTINUED SATISFACTION OF THE SANITARY RESTRICTIONS. BUYER IS CAUTIONED THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS APPROVAL, NO DRINKING WATER EXTENSIONS OR SEWER EXTENSIONS WERE CONSTRUCTED. BUILDING CONSTRUCTION CAN BE ALLOWED WITH APPROPRIATE BUILDING PERMITS IF DRINKING WATER EXTENSIONS OR SEWER EXTENSIONS HAVE SINCE BEEN CONSTRUCTED OR IF THE DEVELOPER IS SIMULTANEOUSLY CONSTRUCTING THOSE FACILITIES. IF THE DEVELOPER FAILS TO CONSTRUCT FACILITIES, THEN SANITARY RESTRICTIONS MAY BE RE-IMPOSED, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 50-1326, IDAHO CODE, BY THE ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF DISAPPROVAL, AND NO CONSTRUCTION OF ANY BUILDING OR SHELTER REQUIRING DRINKING WATER OR SEWER/SEPTIC FACILITIES SHALL BE ALLOWED. Map 14, Word HEALTH DISTRICT SIGNATURE DATE: KOOTENAI COUNTY TREASURER I HEREBY CERTIFY THIS 21 DAY OF JUNE, 2024, THAT THE REQUIRED TAXES ON THE HEREIN DESCRIBED LAND HAVE BEEN PAID THRU DECEMBER 31, 2023 KOOTENAI COUNTY SURVEYOR I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE EXAMINED THIS PLAT AND APPROVE THE SAME FOR RECORDING THIS DAY OF \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_. 12463 KOOTENAI COUNTY SURVEYOR -I E. STATE OF IDAHO, KOOTENAI COUNTY RECORDER I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, AT THE REQUEST OF \_\_\_, 20\_\_\_, AT \_\_\_\_ M. AND DULY RECORDED IN THIS DAY OF PLAT BOOK \_\_\_\_, PAGE \_\_\_\_. AS INSTRUMENT No. FEE \$ KOOTENAI COUNTY RECORDER

# CENTER POINTE IN A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SEC. 1, T.50 N., R.4 W., B.M., IN THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO ON THIS 19 DAY OF MAY CA IN THE YEAR OF 20 24, BEFORE ME, TAMARA A. PRICE, PERSONALLY APPEARED CHARLES A. STRINGHAM AND

# OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

BE IT KNOWN THAT CHARLES A. STRINGHAM AND CARRIE D. STRINGHAM, HUSBAND AND WIFE, THE RECORD OWNERS OF THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED HEREIN, HAVE HAD IT SURVEYED AND DIVIDED INTO LOTS AND BLOCK TO BE KNOWN AS CENTER POINTE, BEING A DIVISION OF TAX NUMBER 6398 (AIN NUMBER 133526) RECORDS OF KOOTENAI COUNTY, IN THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE NORTH QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 50 NORTH, RANGE 4 WEST, B.M., CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, FROM WHENCE THE CENTER QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION BEARS S 00°10'04" E, 2671.09 FEET;

THENCE S 23°36'50" W, 1637.96 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF LOT 2, BLOCK 3 OF WHISPERING PINES ESTATES, BOOK G, PAGE 105, RECORDS OF KOOTENAI COUNTY BEING A FOUND 1/2 " REBAR , PLS 4101, AND THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING FOR THIS DESCRIPTION;

THENCE FOLLOWING THE WESTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID WHISPERING PINES ESTATES, S 00°15'55" E, 352.29 FEET TO A 5/8" REBAR, PLS 5289;

THENCE LEAVING THE SAID WESTERLY BOUNDARY LINE, N 89°21'19" W, 233.88 FEET TO A 5/8" REBAR, PLS 5289 AND THE EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF FOURTH STREET;

THENCE FOLLOWING THE SAID EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, N 25°43'34" E, 533.78 FEET TO A 5/8" REBAR, PLS 5289 AND THE SAID WESTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID WHISPERING PINES ESTATES.

THENCE FOLLOWING THE SAID WESTERLY BOUNDARY LINE, S 00°14'10" E, 131.22 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING APPROXIMATELY 1.298 ACRES.

ALL LOTS ARE SUBJECT TO THE MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT RECORDED AS INSTRUMENT #

THE OWNERS GRANT TO THE CENTER POINTE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION THE 20 FOOT WIDE INGRESS, EGRESS, UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT AS SHOWN HEREON AND RESERVE ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS OF RECORD AND IN VIEW.

DOMESTIC WATER SERVICE WILL BE PROVIDED TO EACH LOT PLATTED HEREIN BY THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE

SANITARY SEWER SERVICE TO EACH LOT PLATTED HEREIN WILL BE PROVIDED BY THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE

3-19-2024 DATE CHARLES A. STRINGHAM

03.19.24

# STATE OF IDAHO, COUNTY OF KOOTENAL, SS

CARRIE D. STRINGHAM, KNOWN OR IDENTIFIED TO ME TO BE THE PERSONS WHOSE NAMES ARE SUBSCRIBED TO THE WITHIN INSTRUMENT, AND ACKNOWLEDGED TO ME THAT THEY EXECUTED THE SAME.



NOTARY PUBI	J. D. Prico
RESIDING AT	Kootenai
RESIDING AT	00014141

# SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

I, RUSSELL G. HONSAKER, P.L.S. No. 5289, STATE OF IDAHO, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT WAS PREPARED BY ME OR UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF IDAHO AS PERTAINING TO PLATS AND SURVEYS. ALL ANGLES, DISTANCES, AND CORNERS ARE STAKED AS SHOWN ON THE PLAT.

RUSSELL G. HONSAKER, P.L.S. No. 5289 3-21-24







# CENTER POINTE

# IN A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SEC. 1, T.50N., R.4W., B.M., IN THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO



		CURV	E TABLI	E	
CURVE	RADIUS	DELTA	LENGTH	CRD. DIST.	CHORD
C1	35.00'	64°00'31"	39.10'	37.10'	N32'16'10"W
C2	60.00'	39°08'18"	40.99'	40.19'	N44°42'17"W

N25'45'12"E 47.39'-



# WHISPERING PINES LANE (60' ROW)

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET ) 1 inch = 40 ft.

# LEGEND:

- P.L.S.S. CORNERS AS NOTED
- O FOUND SURVEY PINS AS NOTED
- SET 5/8" REBAR WITH PVC CAP MARKED "PLS 5289"

# **REFERENCES:**

PLAT WHISPERING PINES ESTATES - BOOK G, PAGE 105 RECORD OF SURVEY - BOOK 32, PAGE 235

# **BASIS OF BEARING:**

THE BASIS OF BEARING FOR THIS SURVEY IS THE EAST LINE OF NORTH WEST QUARTER, SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 50 NORTH, RANGE 4 WEST, B.M. PER BOOK G, PAGE 105. SO'10'04"E

# NARRATIVE

PURPOSE OF SURVEY TO PLAT USING RECORD INFORMATION AND FOUND MONUMENTS.



CE	NTER POI	NTE	ERAME ENGINEERING AND SURVEYING	Ę
SCALE: 1"= 40'		DRAWN BY: SRP	<b>GANETANA</b> 603 North 4th Street, Coeur d'Alene, Idaho, 83814 Ph. (208) 664-2121	SHEET
DATE: 2/5/2024	S1-T50N-R4W	FILE: W183 PLAT	EMEIANA Ph. (208) 664-2121 Email: info@frameandsmetana.com	2 OF 2



### AGREEMENT FOR MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY OF SUBDIVISION WORK

### Center Pointe

THIS AGREEMENT made this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2024 between Charles A. Stringham and Carrie D. Stringham, whose address is 3566 S. North Cape Road, Coeur d'Alene, ID 83814, hereinafter referred to as the "Developer," and the city of Coeur d'Alene, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the state of Idaho, whose address is City Hall, 710 E. Mullan Avenue, Coeur d'Alene, ID 83814, hereinafter referred to as the "City";

WHEREAS, the City has approved the final subdivision plat of Center Pointe, a five (5) lot, residential development in Coeur d'Alene, lying within Section 1, Township 50 North, Range 3 West, B.M., Kootenai County, Idaho; and

WHEREAS, the Developer completed the installation of certain public improvements in the noted subdivision as required by Title 16 of the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code and is required to warrant and maintain the improvements for one year; NOW, THEREFORE,

### IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

The Developer agrees to maintain and warrant for a period of one year from the approval date of this agreement, the public improvements listed in the attached spreadsheet, attached as Exhibit "A", and, as shown on the construction plans entitled "Center Pointe Site Improvement Plans", signed and stamped by Gordon Dobler, PE, # 7432, dated June 13, 2024, incorporated herein by reference, including but not limited to: sanitary sewer system and appurtenances, potable water system and appurtenances, catch basins, stormwater drainage swales, drywells and appurtenances, concrete curb and sidewalk including ramps, asphalt paving, street luminaires, signing and monumentation as required under Title 16 of the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code.

The Developer herewith delivers to the City, security in a form acceptable to the City, for the amount of Two Thousand Four hundred ninety-two and 00/100 Dollars (\$2,492.00) securing the obligation of the Developer to maintain and warrant the public subdivision improvements referred to herein. The security shall not be released until the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2025. The City Inspector will conduct a final inspection prior to the release of the security to verify that all installed improvements are undamaged and free from defect. In the event that the improvements made by the Developer were not maintained or became defective during the period set forth above, the City may demand the funds represented by the security and use the proceeds to complete maintenance or repair of the improvements thereof. The Developer further agrees to be responsible for all costs of warranting and maintaining said improvements above the amount of the security given.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands and seal the day and year first above written.

City of Coeur d'Alene

James Hammond, Mayor

Developer

Charles A. Stringham

ternghum Carrie D. Stringham

ATTEST:

Renata McLeod, City Clerk

# EXHIBIT 'A' COST ESTIMATE

# PROJECT: CENTER POINTE

# DATE: JUNE 13, 2024

Item	Description	Qty	Unit	Unit Price	Total Price
	Sewer				\$24,920.00
3	8" Sewer Main	248	LF	\$40.00	\$9,920.00
4	Sewer Manhole 48" Diam, Type 1	1	EA	\$2,500.00	\$2,500.00
5	Sewer Manhole 48" Diam, Doghouse	1	EA	\$3,500.00	\$3,500.00
6	4" Sewer Services	5	EA	\$1,800.00	\$9,000.00
[otal	Estimated Costs				\$24,920.00
Warranty Bond Amount (10%)					\$2,492.00



# COEUR D'ALENE CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT

DATE:	July 2, 2024
FROM:	Troy Tymesen, City Administrator/Arts Commission Liaison
SUBJECT:	Approval of amendment to the April 2, 2024, MOU with Emerge CDA for student
	art scholarships

**DECISION POINT:** Should Council approve the amendment to the April 2, 2024, approved Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with Emerge CDA, Inc., ("Emerge") to provide that the \$25,000.00 for student art scholarships be paid at a range between \$75.00 to \$250.00?

**HISTORY:** The City of Coeur d'Alene Arts Commission was created to, among other things, stimulate and encourage, throughout the City and surrounding area, the study and presentation of the fine arts, as well as public interest and participation therein; to take such steps as may be necessary and appropriate to encourage public interest in the cultural heritage of our City; to expand the City's cultural resources; and to encourage and assist freedom of artistic expression essential for the wellbeing of the arts. *See* Municipal Code § 2.84.040. The City adopted a Public Arts Policy in 1999. In that Policy, the City set out the goals of the Public Arts Program which included broadening the role of the artist in the community, promoting public dialogue and understanding of public art, and advocating for arts education.

Emerge is an Idaho non-profit company located in Coeur d'Alene. It was organized, in part, to benefit the Coeur d'Alene community through arts education and artist development.

Through this MOU, the City and Emerge seek to promote their mutual interests and goals by providing a scholarship program to assist young artists to attend classes for the development and honing of their artist talents. These scholarships provide primarily a public benefit by encouraging the development of our shared artistic and cultural life and ensuring that the role of the arts in our community will grow and play a significant part in the welfare and educational experience of the citizens of Coeur d'Alene.

**FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:** The total funds to be provided by the City using dedicated Art Fund dollars would not exceed \$25,000. Scholarships will be provided in amounts between \$75.00 and \$250.00 per student and per class rather than the maximum of \$125.00. Scholarships may not exceed the registration fee for the class. They will be awarded on the basis of need to students between the ages of 8 and 18. Emerge will hold at least two art shows per year, open to the public without fee and featuring the works of scholarship students.

**PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS:** The funding has been approved for one year. If successful, the City may choose to fund for a subsequent year, through the existing agreement. The program did begin on April 1, 2024, as approved by the Council. If this amendment is approved there will be two pottery scholarships retroactively paid for a total of \$330.00.

**DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION:** Council should approve the amendment to the scholarship program through a Memorandum of Understanding with Emerge CDA, Inc., in the amount of \$25,000.00 for student art scholarships be paid at a range between \$75.00 to \$250.00 to provide an opportunity for students in need.

# MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING AMENDMENT NO. 1

This Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") is made and entered into this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2024, between the **CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE**, hereinafter referred to as the "**City**," by and through the **ARTS COMMISSION**, a duly established commission of the **City**, hereinafter referred to as the "**Commission**," and **EMERGE CDA INC.**, a non-profit corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the state of Idaho, with its principal place of business at 119 N. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street, Coeur d'Alene, Idaho, hereinafter referred to as "**Emerge**." The **City**, through the **Commission** and **Emerge**, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as follows:

# **ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE**

- 1.01 The **Commission** has the duty and responsibility, as defined by the Ordinances of the **City**, to stimulate and encourage, throughout the **City** and surrounding areas, the study and presentation of the performing and fine arts, and public interest and participation therein, and to provide oversight for the **City** public arts program and other **City** public arts programs. In carrying out this duty and responsibility, the **Commission** may conduct classes for the community in the performing and fine arts.
- 1.02 **Emerge** was incorporated on March 17, 2015, for educational purposes to benefit the community of Coeur d'Alene through arts education and artist development.
- 1.03 **Emerge** provides public art classes for the purpose of stimulating and encouraging the study and presentation of fine arts, and public interest and participation therein for residents of the **City** and surrounding areas.
- 1.04 The **City** deems that scholarships to needy students provides primarily a public benefit in that art encourages the development of our shared artistic and cultural life, and will ensure that the role of the arts in our community will grow and play a significant part in the welfare and educational experience of the citizens of Coeur d'Alene.

# **ARTICLE 2 – SCHOLARSHIPS**

- 2.01 Funds provided by the **Commission** shall be for the following uses and no others:
  - A. To provide scholarships in the amount of Seventy-five and no/100 Dollars (\$75.00) up to One Hundred Twenty five and no/100 Dollars (\$125.00) Two Hundred Fifty and no/100 Dollars (\$250.00) each;
  - B. No scholarship shall exceed the registration fee for the class;
  - C. Scholarships shall be awarded by **Emerge** on the basis of need to students between the ages of seven (7) and eighteen (18) years old. Students must apply for scholarships on the form attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - AMENDMENT NO. 1

- D. Scholarships funded during the term of the Memorandum of Understanding shall not exceed the sum of Twenty-five Thousand and no/100 Dollars (\$25,000.00).
- E. **Emerge** agrees to hold at least two (2) art shows per year, open to the public without fee, featuring works created by students who received scholarships funding from the **Commission**. **Emerge** shall select the works to be displayed at each show, with the works returned to the students creating them at the close of the show.
- 2.02 The phrase "Scholarships provided by the Coeur d'Alene Arts Commission" shall be included in the title of any class hereunder, on all promotions for said classes, as well as any materials and promotions for the required art shows.

# **ARTICLE 3 - CLASSES**

- 3.01 **Emerge** agrees that the classes it provides with be affordable to the general population and conducted in an ADA compliant facility.
- 3.02 **Emerge** agrees that the classes will be presented by professional instructors who will be compensated at competitive rates, and that high quality materials will be used.
- 3.03 **Emerge** agrees that it will not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religious creed, ancestry, age, sex, national origin, disability, sexual orientation and/or gender identity/expression.
- 3.04 **Emerge** will provide notice of the classes and the availability of scholarships to agencies working with underserved youths, including, but not limited to, the Boys and Girls Club, St. Vincent de Paul, and Children's Village.
- 3.05 Classes provide will encompass a variety of fine arts, including painting (oil, acrylic, watercolor), pottery, drawing, fiber arts, sculpture, and print making.

# **ARTICLE 4 – STANDARDS**

- 4.01 The **Commission** supports the First Amendment and encourages the depiction of the full range of ideas, concepts and emotions in the artwork of students provided scholarships.
- 4.02 The First Amendment does not protect obscenity, fighting words, incitement to violence, or defamation.
- 4.03 **Emerge** acknowledges and agrees that it will not allow scholarship students to create obscene artworks in or in connection with its classes, nor will it allow artworks created by scholarship students to contain threats, incitements to violence, or defamation.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING – AMENDMENT NO. 1

4.04 All artwork produced by scholarship students shall be original and shall not violate the copyright of any other person.

# **ARTICLE 5 - TERM**

5.01 The Term of this MOU shall be one (1) year. This MOU shall commence on April 1, 2024, and end on March 31, 2025. The MOU may be renewed on an annual basis upon the mutual agreement of the parties.

# **ARTICLE 6 - PAYMENT BY COMMISSION**

- 6.01 **Emerge** must submit documentation showing the scholarships awarded, proof of "Art Camp" and registration for each reimbursed scholarship to the **Commission** by the 10<sup>th</sup> of the month for scholarships awarded in the previous calendar month for payment in that month.
- 6.02 If the documentation is complete and in compliance with this MOU, reimbursement shall be made by the end of each calendar month for the work completed in the previous calendar month.

# **ARTICLE 7 - OVERSIGHT**

- 7.01 Every ninety (90) days, **Emerge** shall provide the **Commission** a detailed report of all scholarship awarded, including the name of the student, the name of the class, whether the student successfully completed the class, a description of the artwork created, and photographs of the artwork.
- 7.02 **Emerge** shall also provide, on a quarterly basis, an organization budget for the following quarter for classes and art shows utilizing funds from the **Commission**, which budget shall show year-to-date figures.

# **SECTION 8 - TERMINATION**

- 8.01 Termination
  - A. Either party may terminate this MOU prior to the expiration of the term, for any reason, upon thirty (30) days' written notice.
  - B. If **Emerge** violates any provision of this MOU, the **City** or the **Commission** may terminate this MOU without notice.

# **SECTION 9 - MISCELLANEOUS**

- 9.01 Assignment of Contract
  - A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the MOU shall be made by either party without the written consent of the other party.
- 9.02 Ownership and Operations
  - A. Pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-2359, **Emerge** certifies that it is not currently owned or operated by the government of the People's Republic of China and will not for the duration of the contract be owned or operated by the government of the People's Republic of China.
  - B. Pursuant to Idaho Code § 18-8703, Emerge certifies that it is not, and will not for the duration of this MOU become, an abortion provider or an affiliate of an abortion provider, as those terms are defined in the "No Public Funds for Abortion Act," Idaho Code §§ 18-8701 et seq.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Coeur d'Alene and **Emerge** have signed this MOU. Counterparts have been delivered to the **City**, the **Commission**, and **Emerge**.

# City of Coeur d'Alene

By \_\_\_\_\_

James Hammond, Mayor

ATTEST:

Renata McLeod, City Clerk

Emerge CDA, Inc.

By	

\_\_\_\_\_ (printed name)

Title: \_\_\_\_\_\_

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING – AMENDMENT NO. 1

# COEUR D'ALENE CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT

DATE: July 2, 2024
FROM: Troy Tymesen, City Administrator/Arts Commission Liaison
SUBJECT: Approval of establishing the Coeur d'Alene Poet Laurate Program

**DECISION POINT:** Should Council approve the establishment of a Poet Laureate to serve a three-year term and receive an annual stipend of \$1,500 (\$4,500 for total term).

**HISTORY:** The City of Coeur d'Alene Arts Commission was created to, among other things, stimulate and encourage, throughout the City and surrounding area, the study and presentation of the fine arts, as well as public interest and participation therein; to take such steps as may be necessary and appropriate to encourage public interest in the cultural heritage of our City; to expand the City's cultural resources; and to encourage and assist freedom of artistic expression essential for the wellbeing of the arts. *See* Municipal Code § 2.84.040. The City adopted a Public Arts Policy in 1999. In that Policy, the City set out the goals of the Public Arts Program which included broadening the role of the artist in the community, promoting public dialogue and understanding of public art, and advocating for arts education.

The Poet Laureate program is intended to increase awareness of the role that poetry and literature play in the community and creates a record of Coeur d'Alene's distinctive character. Along with offering readings and workshops, the Poet Laureate writes poems for the city that are reflective of local landscapes, social situations, or important events.

During the three-year term, the Poet Laureate will be commissioned to:

- Write at least two (2) original works per year to be entered into the City's Pubic Art Collection. These works will be published in local publications and/or presented at public occasions.
- Give a minimum of three (3) local readings per year:
  - o One at the Mayor's Awards in the Arts
  - One at the Coeur d'Alene Library National Poetry Month
  - One at a regularly scheduled City Council meeting
- Work to raise the visibility of poetry and other literary arts within the community through outreach, education, and other programs.

A call for the Poet Laureate will be publicly published from July 8th – August 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024. Minimum qualification of a one-page essay noting specific ideas or actual outreach activities and program involvement in the community. A sample of three original poems with publication credits listed, a resume that include a list of publications and qualifications, and electronic documentation of applicant reading a sample of work.

**FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:** The total funds to be provided by the City using dedicated Art Fund dollars would not exceed \$4,500. An annual stipend will be provided in the amount of \$1,500, due at the beginning of each service year.

**DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION:** Council should approve the establishment of a Poet Laureate to serve a three-year term and receive an annual stipend of \$1,500 (\$4,500 for total term).
# OTHER BUSINESS

### CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT

DATE:July 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2024FROM:Tom Greif- Fire ChiefSUBJECT:General Obligation Bond/ Municipal Advisor

\_\_\_\_\_

**DECISION POINT:** Should the City Council approve the Fire Department to contract with a municipal advisory firm for the purpose of planning for a General Obligation Bond referendum in May 2025?

**HISTORY:** Since 2005, the City has relied upon a General Obligation Bond referendum to fund the majority of the Fire Department's capital replacement/improvement needs. The first Public Safety Bond was passed in 2005 and the second, which came in 2015, matures in August of 2025.

**FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:** The need for a municipal advisory firm is not included in the current FD budget. There are approximately \$140,000.00 of funds available in the City's Debt Service Fund that would be appropriate to utilize with Council's approval. The approximate cost for a municipal advisory firm's services would be approximately \$50,000.00 and would be selected through an RFQ process.

**PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS:** In order to maintain the current level of Fire & EMS service delivery within the City, a General Obligation Bond is necessary to fund our replacement of fire apparatus and capital improvement needs for updating/expanding current fire stations. To fund these needs from the City's general fund would be impossible. A municipal advisory firm would provide the expertise to proceed in an organized and active direction to achieve this necessary funding.

**DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION:** Council should approve the Fire Department to proceed with an RFQ to select a municipal advisory firm and begin planning for a General Obligation Bond election at the May 2025 election.



### Capital Replacement & Improvement Needs

# History

### 2005

The City of Coeur d'Alene ran its first Public Safety General Obligation Bond for \$7 million dollars and was voter approved by a 74% margin.

### 2015

The second General Obligation Bond was for \$6 million dollars and voter approved by an 85% margin.







# **Fire Apparatus Replacement**



10 years frontline/ 5 years back-up



Aerial Apparatus 15 years frontline/ 5 years back-up

We currently do not have a back-up aerial apparatus



# What will a municipal advisory firm provide us?

Assist with creating an organized plan that meets the needs of the community.

Public outreach, engagement and education services.

Creation of a financial team that includes bond counsel, underwriters, and possibly trustees.

# **Decision Point / Recommendation**

Council should give approval to the Fire Department to proceed with an RFQ to select a municipal advisory firm and begin planning for a General Obligation Bond election at the May 2025 election.

Funding source- Debt Service Fund.



### CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT

DATE: July 2, 2024FROM: Randy Adams, City AttorneySUBJECT: Hate Crimes Ordinance

**DECISION POINT:** Should the City Council adopt a new Chapter, Chapter 9.23, Hate Crimes, to the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code?

**HISTORY:** On the evening of March 21, 2024, members of the University of Utah Women's Basketball team, coaching staff, and athletic department, as well as members of the University's band, cheerleaders, and dance team, were staying at the Coeur d'Alene Resort while they participated in the NCAA Women's Basketball Tournament in Spokane, Washington. As they were walking on the sidewalk along Sherman Avenue after dinner, they were subjected to an incident of racial harassment. Law enforcement was contacted approximately two-and-a-half hours after the incident and an extensive investigation determined the identity of the person who made the offensive statements which contained the racial slur. Unfortunately, the current law did not allow for the prosecution of this young man.

On the afternoon of May 24, 2024, children from the Coeur d'Alene Tribe were subjected to racial harassment by multiple individuals in McEuen Park. Again, the despicable conduct did not rise to the level of a crime under either State law or City ordinance.

Many communities throughout the United States have also discovered that common ordinances prohibiting disorderly conduct and similar offenses are simply not broad enough to criminalize the type of conduct demonstrated in these two incidents. Accordingly, Staff is proposing a new Chapter to the City Code, modeled after ordinances in other communities which have dealt with such abhorrent behavior and select federal laws. This new Chapter creates an offense known as a "hate crime," which is the commission of certain, already established crimes, but motivated by a person's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin. The criminalization of this behavior will enable the City to prosecute racially motivated crimes, leading to separate charges and enhanced penalties in appropriate cases.

**FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:** There will be no additional cost to the City other than normal prosecution costs.

**PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS:** This new Chapter provides another tool for the City to combat racism and prejudice in our community.

**DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION:** Council should adopt Chapter 9.23 of the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code, entitled "Hate Crimes."

### ORDINANCE NO. \_\_\_\_ COUNCIL BILL NO. 24-1010

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ADOPTION OF A NEW CHAPTER OF THE COEUR D'ALENE MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER 9.23: HATE CRIMES; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THE ORDINANCE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE THEREOF.

WHEREAS, it is deemed by the Mayor and City Council to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d'Alene that said amendment be adopted;

NOW, THEREFORE,

BE IT ORDAINED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene:

**SECTION 1.** That a new Chapter, 9.23: HATE CRIMES, be added to the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code as follows:

### **9.23.010: HATE CRIMES:**

- A. Intimidation. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person violates any provision of the City Code with the intent to intimidate another person or persons in whole or in part because of the actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin of the other person or persons.
- B. Malicious Injury to Property. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person maliciously injures or damages the real or personal property of another because of the person's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin.
- C. Harassment. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person, with intent to frighten or harass another threatens, by word or act, bodily injury or property damage, if there is reasonable cause to believe that bodily injury or property damage will occur, because of the actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin of the other person or persons,
- D. Assault and Battery. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person commits an assault and/or a battery, as defined by Idaho Code §§ 18-901

and 18-903, because of the victim's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin.

- E. Public Nuisance. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person creates or maintains a public nuisance, as defined by Idaho Code § 18-5901, because of the victim's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin.
- F. Disorderly Conduct. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person is guilty of disorderly conduct, as defined by Chapter 9.22, Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code, because of the victim's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin.
- G. Threat. A person is guilty of a hate crime if that person threatens, by word or act, to do any act prohibited by subsections (A) and (F) if there is reasonable cause to believe that any of the acts described in such subsections will occur.
- H. Conspiracy. If two or more persons conspire to injure, oppress, threaten, or intimidate any person in the free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege secured to him by law, or because of his having so exercised the same, because of the victim's actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, or national origin, all persons so conspiring are guilty of a hate crime.

### **9.23.020: PENALTY:**

- A. Any person found to have violated § 9.23.010 of this Code shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable as provided by § 1.28.010 of this Code, in addition to any punishment for conviction of the underlying crime.
- B. Fines imposed under this section for contemporaneous or concurrent violations of this section shall be assessed for each violation.
- C. In addition to the punishment prescribed by subsection A hereof, a person found to have violated § 9.23.010 of this Code shall be ineligible, for a period of up to three (3) years, for any City license, permit, or activity.
- D. A court may impose community service or participation in an educational program for violation of this Chapter.

**SECTION 2.** All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

**SECTION 3.** The provisions of this ordinance are severable and if any provision, clause, sentence, subsection, word or part thereof is held illegal, invalid, or unconstitutional or inapplicable to any person or circumstance, such illegality, invalidity or unconstitutionality or inapplicability shall not affect or impair any of the remaining provisions, clauses, sentences, subsections, words or parts of this ordinance or their application to other persons or circumstances. It is hereby declared to be the legislative intent that this ordinance would have been adopted if such illegal, invalid or unconstitutional provision, clause sentence, subsection, word, or part had not been included therein.

**SECTION 4.** After its passage and adoption, a summary of this Ordinance, pursuant to the provisions of the Idaho Code, shall be published once in the official newspaper of the City of Coeur d'Alene, and upon such publication this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect.

Passed under suspension of rules upon which a roll call vote was duly taken and duly enacted an Ordinance of the City of Coeur d'Alene at a regular session of the City Council on July 2, 2024.

APPROVED, ADOPTED and SIGNED this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2024.

James Hammond, Mayor

ATTEST:

Renata McLeod, City Clerk

SUMMARY OF COEUR D'ALENE ORDINANCE NO. \_\_\_\_\_ Adding new Chapter 9.23 to the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ADOPTION OF A NEW CHAPTER OF THE COEUR D'ALENE MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER 9.23: HATE CRIMES; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THE ORDINANCE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE THEREOF. THE FULL TEXT OF THE SUMMARIZED ORDINANCE NO. \_\_\_\_\_ IS AVAILABLE AT COEUR D'ALENE CITY HALL, 710 E. MULLAN AVENUE, COEUR D'ALENE, IDAHO 83814 IN THE OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK.

Renata McLeod, City Clerk

### STATEMENT OF LEGAL ADVISOR

I, Randall R. Adams, am City Attorney for the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho. I have examined the attached summary of Coeur d'Alene Ordinance No. \_\_\_\_\_, adding new Chapter 9.23: Hate Crimes, to the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code, and find it to be a true and complete summary of said ordinance which provides adequate notice to the public of the context thereof.

DATED this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of July, 2024.

Randall R. Adams, City Attorney